REVIEW ARTICLE | OCTOBER 14 2024

Regulation of epithelial cell jamming transition by cytoskeleton and cell–cell interactions

Zoe D. Latham 💿 ; Alexandra Bermudez; Jimmy K. Hu 🛥 💿 ; Neil Y. C. Lin ጃ 💿

Check for updates Biophysics Rev. 5, 041301 (2024)

https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0220088



Articles You May Be Interested In

A life off the beaten track in biomechanics: Imperfect elasticity, cytoskeletal glassiness, and epithelial unjamming

Biophysics Rev. (December 2023)

How cytoskeletal crosstalk makes cells move: Bridging cell-free and cell studies

Biophysics Rev. (June 2024)

Mechanoregulation and function of calponin and transgelin

Biophysics Rev. (March 2024)



Special Topics Open for Submissions



Learn More

Regulation of epithelial cell jamming transition by cytoskeleton and cell-cell interactions **•**

Cite as: Biophysics Rev. **5**, 041301 (2024); doi: 10.1063/5.0220088 Submitted: 22 May 2024 · Accepted: 16 September 2024 · Published Online: 14 October 2024

Zoe D. Latham, 🗈 Alexandra Bermudez, Jimmy K. Hu, 2.3.4.a) 🕞 and Neil Y. C. Lin 1.4.5.6.7.a) 🗈

AFFILIATIONS

¹Bioengineering Department, UCLA, Los Angeles, California 90095, USA

²School of Dentistry, UCLA, Los Angeles, California 90095, USA

³Molecular Biology Institute, UCLA, Los Angeles, California 90095, USA

⁴Broad Stem Cell Center, UCLA, Los Angeles, California 90095, USA

⁵Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering Department, UCLA, Los Angeles, California 90095, USA

⁶Jonsson Comprehensive Cancer Center, UCLA, Los Angeles, California 90095, USA

⁷Institute for Quantitative and Computational Biosciences, UCLA, Los Angeles, California 90095, USA

^{a)}Authors to whom correspondence should be addressed: jkhu@g.ucla.edu and neillin@g.ucla.edu

ABSTRACT

Multicellular systems, such as epithelial cell collectives, undergo transitions similar to those in inert physical systems like sand piles and foams. To remodel or maintain tissue organization during development or disease, these collectives transition between fluid-like and solid-like states, undergoing jamming or unjamming transitions. While these transitions share principles with physical systems, understanding their regulation and implications in cell biology is challenging. Although cell jamming and unjamming follow physics principles described by the jamming diagram, they are fundamentally biological processes. In this review, we explore how cellular processes and interactions regulate jamming and unjamming transitions. We begin with an overview of how these transitions control tissue remodeling in epithelial model systems and describe recent findings of the physical principles governing tissue solidification and fluidization. We then explore the mechanistic pathways that modulate the jamming phase diagram axes, focusing on the regulation of cell fluctuations and geometric compatibility. Drawing upon seminal works in cell biology, we discuss the roles of cytoskeleton and cell–cell adhesion in controlling cell motility and geometry. This comprehensive view illustrates the molecular control of cell jamming and unjamming, crucial for tissue remodeling in various biological contexts.

III.

IV.

Published under an exclusive license by AIP Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0220088

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION	1
A. Biological roles of cell jamming in epithelial	
systems	2
1. Wound healing assays	2
2. Epithelial morphogenesis in Drosophila	2
3. Blastoderm spreading in zebrafish	2
4. Airway epithelium culture models	2
B. Physics insights into cell jamming	3
1. Biophysical insights into cell jamming phase	
diagram	4
2 Density-driven cell jamming	4
3. Density-independent cell jamming	5
II CELI MOTILITY AND JAMMING	5
A Fluctuation-regulated cell jamming	5
In Thechandon regulated ten julinning	-

B. Molecular regulation of cell motility	5
1. Cytoskeletal activities	6
2. Front-rear polarization and RhoA/Rac1	
activities	6
3. Cryptic protrusions in confluent	
monolayers	6
4. Contact inhibition of locomotion (CIL)	
and related mechanisms	7
CELL GEOMETRY AND JAMMING	7
A. Geometry-regulated cell jamming	7
B. Molecular regulation of cell geometry	8
1. Cytoskeletal activities	8
2. Cell-cell interactions	8
CONCLUSIONS	9

Export Citatio

View Online

REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION

Cells and tissues generate and respond to forces, resulting in organized structures and specific shapes. During organ development and regeneration, the balance between cell rearrangement and supracellular organization determines tissue deformability and structural integrity. Many multicellular systems, including epithelial cell collectives, transition between a fluid-like, malleable state and a solid-like, stable state, similar to particulate systems like sand piles. Initially, sand flows but jams when particles pack tightly and can flow again if agitated. Cell collectives undergo a similar phase transition. Understanding the flow properties associated with cell jamming and unjamming transitions provides insights into the biophysical mechanisms of tissue formation and disease progression.

The regulation of cell jamming and unjamming transitions is multifactorial. These transitions adhere to fundamental physics principles, sharing mechanisms with systems like foams, glass, and granular materials.^{1–3} However, they are ultimately driven by biological events triggered by biochemical and biomechanical cues. This review integrates physical and biological understandings of cell jamming and unjamming by discussing the molecular regulation of cell fluctuation and geometric compatibility, key determinants of phase transitions. We describe four representative jamming and unjamming examples observed in different epithelial model systems. We then explore how cytoskeletal activities, cell–cell interactions, and their upstream signaling pathways control dynamic changes in cell motility and morphology.

A. Biological roles of cell jamming in epithelial systems

Recent experiments using *in vitro* and *in vivo* models have highlighted the role of cell jamming and unjamming in modulating tissue properties across various biological contexts, including embryonic development,^{12–14} injury repair,¹⁵ and disease progression.^{10,16–18} This review focuses on epithelial tissues and discusses key discoveries on how cell jamming and unjamming govern cell behaviors and tissue characteristics.

1. Wound healing assays

The study of epithelial wound healing using cell culture models dates back to the early 20th century,¹⁹⁻²¹ facilitated by the invention of phase contrast microscopy.²² Recently, wound healing has been examined through the framework of jamming and unjamming transitions. The in vitro wound healing process has two main stages. First, when a wound is introduced to a jammed epithelial monolayer, edge cells migrate to re-epithelialize the area, accompanied by increased cell proliferation and movement [Fig. 1(a)]. The wound decreases local stress, altering cell propulsion,²³ alignment,²³ and metabolism,^{15,24} leading to unjamming of the monolayer. In the second stage, after the gap is closed, cells reestablish adhesion via adherens and tight junctions, restoring tissue integrity. This stage represents a jamming transition, often studied using cell crowding models.²⁵⁻²⁷ Examining wound healing through the lens of jamming and unjamming transitions offers insights into tissue functions and cell phenotypes. Tissue fluidity, as influenced by intercellular junction tension and intercalating rate, can directly affect healing pace.²⁸ This perspective underscores the critical role of mechanical properties in regulating tissue healing processes and outcomes.

2. Epithelial morphogenesis in Drosophila

In developing Drosophila, many epithelial tissues undergo dynamic shape changes, serving as key examples for studying tissue morphogenesis through cell mechanics and jamming transitions. During gastrulation, the single-layered blastula epithelium folds inward at the ventral side to form the ventral furrow, where epithelial cells invaginate to establish the mesoderm.²⁹ This process, driven by actomyosin-mediated apical constriction and junctional remodeling,^{30–33} does not involve cell intercalation. However, prior to furrow formation, cells exhibit increased speed and elongated shapes typical of cellular unjamming.³⁴ This contrasts with maturing cultured epithelial monolayers, where cells become more jammed and less elongated.³⁴ Cell shape and packing constraints highlight the link between cell packing and geometric principles, transcending specific biological properties.³⁴⁻³⁶ Additionally, the rapid changes in volumetric and shear order parameters at the onset of ventral furrow formation can also indicate an unjamming transition.³⁷

Shortly after the ventral furrow begins to form, cells in the lateral epidermis, known as the germ-band, rapidly rearrange and intercalate to drive the elongation of the main body axis, a process called germband extension, which occurs within minutes [Fig. 1(b)].³⁸ Importantly, cell shape alone cannot fully predict the phase transition in this context. A combination of an increased cell shape index (cell perimeter divided by the square root of area) and decreased shape alignment is required to predict the onset of rapid cell rearrangement that drives germ-band extension.⁶ This fluidization of the epithelial tissue then permits morphogenesis to occur.

3. Blastoderm spreading in zebrafish

In zebrafish, gastrulation starts with the blastoderm spreading over the yolk cell [Fig. 1(c)], involving the coordinated expansion of the outer epithelial cell layer and E-cadherin dependent deep cell intercalations.^{39,40} Initially, mitotic cell rounding reduces cell-cell contact in the central blastoderm, decreasing tissue viscosity and fluidizing the tissue to facilitate deformation.⁹ As the blastoderm "domes," cell-cell connectivity is again reestablished and tissue viscosity gradually increases, effectively re-solidifying the tissue to maintain its integrity.⁴¹ As gastrulation proceeds, mesendoderm progenitor cells ingress at the blastoderm margin, driven by a Nodal signaling gradient that prompts highly protrusive leader cells to undergo local unjamming transition and migrate toward the yolk syncytial layer.⁴² Unlike in Drosophila furrow formation, cell shape changes or packing configurations in zebrafish do not predict jamming and unjamming states; instead, changes in cell-cell contact patterns reliably inform blastoderm viscosity.⁴¹

4. Airway epithelium culture models

During an asthma exacerbation, airway narrowing leads to epithelial buckling and exposure to compressive stress.⁴³ This can be mimicked in cell culture by applying mechanical compression with a 30 cm-H₂O pressure differential from the apical to the basal side [Fig. 1(d)].^{10,44} In primary human bronchial epithelial cells, such compression induces unjamming transition, mobilizing cells that could potentially repair the injured bronchial tissue.¹⁰ Unjammed cells become elongated, and this elongation, defined by the cell shape index, predicts the unjamming phase transition.⁴⁴ These cells retain epithelial а



FIG. 1. Examples of cell jamming and unjamming transitions: (a) Epithelial wound healing exemplifies jammingunjamming transitions, where a wound triggers cell migration, intercalation, and proliferation, causing the cell monolayer to unjam. As the cells migrate to close the wound, they eventually undergo a fluid-tosolid transition (not shown), reestablishing junctions to restore tissue integrity.^{4,5} (b) Shortly before germ-band extension takes place in Drosophila, both the cell shape index (\bar{p}) and shape alignment (Q) begin to increase, although the tissue remains in a jammed state initially. The onset of unjamming transition is marked by a rapid decrease in shape alignment, leading to cell intercalation. This process is driven by planar-polarized myosin II at cell interfaces (orange stripes), which fluidizes the germ-band epithelium and enables its elongation (white arrows).6, (c) During the initial spreading of the blastoderm over the yolk in zebrafish, mitotic cell rounding reduces cell-cell contacts and fluidizes the tissue locally, allowing dome formation. The blastoderm subsequently re-solidifies through reestablishment of cell-cell contacts.8,9 (d) Mechanical compression induces an unjamming transition in bronchial epithelial cells, resembling conditions during asthma exacerbation, where the unjamming transition is marked by elongated cell shapes.¹⁰

characteristics, including apical-basal polarity and matured E-cadherin junctions, distinguishing unjamming from epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, despite both enabling cellular migration.¹¹ Cells from asthma or idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients exhibit delayed jamming transition and persistent fluid-like phase during crowding, highlighting biophysical deviations that may contribute to disease progression.^{10,45}

B. Physics insights into cell jamming

An exciting perspective in using physics to understand complex systems is identifying emergent behaviors and self-organizing principles arising from constituent interactions. The jamming transition exhibits many hallmarks akin to conventional second-order phase transitions, demonstrating critical behavior near the transition point, characterized by diverging length scales⁴⁶ and power-law trends.^{47,48} In granular systems, the jamming transition is characterized by universality, where systems with different microscopic details display similar macroscopic behavior near the critical point, with shared critical exponents and scaling laws.^{47,49–51}

Solid-like/

Non-motile

Fluid-like/

Motile

Since the jamming transition is well-studied across various physical systems like granular materials, colloidal suspensions, foams, emulsions, and glass-forming liquids, cell jamming studies often draw inspiration from these works.^{51,52} However, most cell jammingunjamming experiments focus on changes in tissue structure, rheological properties (e.g., rigidity), and dynamic heterogeneity. Studies of scaling and critical phenomena in cell jamming remain largely theoretical.

1. Biophysical insights into cell jamming phase diagram

Here we adopt a recently proposed version of jamming phase diagram,¹ wherein jammed states are situated near the origin of a parameter space with axes representing inverse density, fluctuation, and geometric compatibility (Fig. 2). Both the density and fluctuation axes are directly derived from the classical jamming diagram,^{53,54} whereas the geometric compatibility is unique in cellular systems.^{10,55} Along the density axis, as the density of cells increases in a system, they become more crowded, eventually reaching a point, where they have no space to move. The fluctuation axis describes agitations caused by dynamic changes in cell movements or cell divisions, providing cells with the energy to escape the "cage" created by their neighbors, similar to the role of temperature in glass transition. Finally, geometric compatibility accounts for the cells' ability to achieve the target area and perimeter, which is predominantly determined by the force balance of cortical tension.

While the jamming diagram predicts system states based on physical parameters,^{13,56} understanding cell jamming mechanisms requires insight into the molecular regulation of these parameters. In cell biology, the jamming axes (density, movement, and geometry) are downstream phenotypes regulated by upstream signaling pathways and molecular events. This explains why jamming or unjamming often involves changes in multiple axes. Below, we explore cell biological

FIG. 2. The jamming phase diagram positions jammed states close to the origin within a parameter space outlined by axes of inverse density, fluctuation, and geometric compatibility, with the latter referring to the cells' ability to simultaneously achieve the target area and perimeter. These characteristics are ultimately influenced by upstream signaling pathways and molecular events. Cell motility and geometry are directly regulated by cytoskeletal activities, which both modulate and are modulated by cell-cell interactions.

mechanisms regulating cell jamming, primarily focusing on densityindependent jamming, where cell number remains relatively constant during the transition. For density-driven jamming, for example regulated through a balance between proliferation and extrusion, we refer readers to comprehensive reviews on the physical aspects of the transition.^{1,2,51,57,58}

It should be noted that under different biological contexts, the unjamming transition can be associated with distinct cell movement patterns. For instance, during Drosophila gastrulation, cell movements in the germ-band are largely driven by intercalations, reminiscent of atomic rearrangements during fluidization.⁵⁹ Conversely, MCF10A cells⁶⁰ and bronchial epithelial cells⁴⁴ may exhibit "flocking-solid" states when undergoing unjamming transitions. In these cases, cells move collectively in groups, each behaving like a solid with minimal internal relative motion. This phenomenon is reminiscent of cooperative rearranging regions in supercooled liquids^{61,62} and particle clusters in sheared colloidal gels.^{63,64} While a reduction in tissue rigidity might be anticipated in all these cases, future studies should examine other mechanical properties of these systems, which could still differ due to the distinct cell movement states. To delineate the outcomes produced from distinct cell movement patterns, it is essential to integrate the comprehensive quantification of motility metrics and the understanding of jamming and unjamming movements. Bridging this gap is crucial for advancing our knowledge of cellular behavior during unjamming transitions. By incorporating quantitative metrics from soft matter physics and fluid mechanics-such as velocity correlation functions,6 ⁷ diffusion-based analysis,⁶⁸ and non-Gaussianity parameters^{69,70}—existing theoretical models can be more effectively integrated to explain unjamming movements in biological systems. Complementary measurements, such as traction forces, junctional tension inference, and cellular protrusions, will provide additional insights into the underlying cellular mechanisms.

2. Density-driven cell jamming

In both physical and biological systems, the balance between degrees of freedom and constraints controls rigidity.^{71,72} In a nonconfluent cell monolayer, each cell can move in various directions on a two-dimensional plane. Simplifying cells as "hard spheres," the total degrees of freedom equal the number of cells (N_c) times the number of dimensions (d).⁷³ As cells become crowded, intercellular contacts add constraints, jamming the system when constraints match degrees of freedom (N_cd), inhibiting cell rearrangements.⁷⁴ Conversely, when the system is less dense with fewer contacts, cells can easily exchange neighbors, allowing the tissue to "flow."

Compared to ideal hard spheres, cells are soft and motile, introducing complexity in understanding density-driven cell jamming. Cell jamming occurs beyond confluence, where glassy dynamics^{25,26,75} and projected cell area reduction due to continuous division after reaching initial confluency must be considered.⁷⁶ Cells with glassy dynamics display sluggish movement, prolonged relaxation times, and a tendency to become trapped in metastable configurations,^{35,77–79} similar to glass and amorphous materials.⁸⁰ Additionally, intercellular interactions are adhesive, like "sticky particles," and the density-driven jamming transition is dictated by cell–cell adhesion and network connectivity. For example, in zebrafish blastoderm, a slight change in cell packing drastically alters viscosity and determines long-range cell connectivity,⁴¹ consistent with particulate jamming with attractive interparticle forces.³ Similarly, during zebrafish body axis elongation, functional cell–cell adhesion reduces volume fraction and promotes fluid-to-solid transition of the presomitic mesoderm to rigidify the extending body.⁸¹

3. Density-independent cell jamming

In crowded tissue systems, where all cells are in contact with their neighbors and the packing density reaches a steady state, densityindependent mechanisms govern the jamming-unjamming transitions.⁵⁵ For instance, in the self-propelled Voronoi (SPV) model of confluent tissues, it has been demonstrated that the processes of unjamming and fluidization are driven by the magnitude of fluctuating propulsive forces, the persistence of these forces, and the cell target shape parameters.55,78 Using multi-phase-field models that simulates the fluidization of a confluent layer comprising motile deformable particles, it has been shown that jamming and unjamming are controlled by the trade-off between deformability and the overlap of cells.⁸² In addition, active foam models^{81,83} and active finite Voronoi simulations⁸⁴ can effectively capture the jamming-unjamming transitions in non-confluent cell collectives by accounting for the intercellular spaces. Recent experiments have been able to observe density-independent unjamming transitions in response to morphogen gradient,⁴² irradiation,⁸⁵ hydrostatic pressure,⁴⁴ or mechanical compression,⁸⁶ in which the cell morphological changes during transition are consistent with the vertex model predictions.

II. CELL MOTILITY AND JAMMING

A. Fluctuation-regulated cell jamming

The concept of fluctuation-regulated cell jamming was mainly derived from the temperature axis of the original jamming diagram.^{1,2,58} As illustrated in Fig. 3(a), an intuitive way of understanding this jamming-unjamming mechanism is to consider the scenario in which, as the system's temperature increases, the constituent element (e.g., an atom, particle, or cell) gains more energy that allows them to escape the constraints imposed by its neighbors, thus fluidizing the system. In atomic systems, such as glassy liquids, the kinetic energy of atoms is a direct result of thermal fluctuations.⁸⁷ In contrast, systems undergoing jamming transitions, like granular and cellular systems, are far from thermodynamic equilibrium, with particle kinetic energy in granular systems relying on continuous energy injection from external mechanical perturbations.⁵² In cellular systems, the kinetic energy of a cell arises from the controlled release of chemical energy, making the "temperature" of these far-from-equilibrium systems a concept used to describe thermal-like fluctuation behavior.⁸

B. Molecular regulation of cell motility

Fluctuations, often associated with the self-propulsion force of cells (i.e., cell motility),⁹⁰ drive tissue fluidization through three types of cellular events. In this section, we examine the molecular effectors influencing these cell behaviors. Cell motility is coordinated through

FIG. 3. Cell motility and jamming: (a) As the force of cell propulsion increases, the effective temperature within a cell layer rises, granting cells more energy to overcome constraints from neighboring elements, thereby leading to the fluidization of the system. To highlight motility differences between jammed and unjammed states, the schematic does not depict all morphological changes that may occur during the jamming or unjamming transition. (b) Cell motility is predominately a result of cytoskeletal activities, which regulate the formation of cryptic protrusions in crowded cells and generate traction forces on substrates through focal adhesions. The front-rear polarization arises from the Rac1-RhoA gradient, which facilitates actin polymerization and branching in the cryptic protrusion anteriorly via activation of WAVE and Arp2/3 complexes and stimulates robust actomyosin contraction posteriorly via activation of myosin light chain (MLC). Transmission of contractile force through adherens junctions (e.g., cadherins) stretches the posterior neighbor cell and biomechanically activates its ERK signaling to orient front-rear polarity and induces downstream actomyosin contraction. This cycle repeats between cells, leading to the propagation of ERK activation waves and coordinated cell movement during collective cell migration. Note that the Rac1-RhoA gradient would be reversed in leader cells (not illustrated here) to exert traction force anteriorly.

15 October 2024 17:29:32

the interplay of biochemical signaling cascades, physical cues, and mechanical machinery, as summarized in Fig. 3(b). Although significant progress has been made in understanding single-cell and collective cell migration in cell biology and mechanobiology, its role in the context of unjamming transition remains underexplored. Notably, there are two primary distinctions between conventional collective cell migration and unjamming studies: (1) Typical collective cell migration studies, such as wound healing scratch assays, chemotaxis, or durotaxis, exhibit global directionality,⁹¹ whereas unjamming transitions often lack tissue-level migration guidance,^{10,44,85,86} leading to uncoordinated motion and the absence of well-defined leader cells during tissue fluidization.^{65,92} (2) In motility-driven unjamming experiments, intercellular adhesions in the mesenchymal phenotype seen in collective migration.

Despite these differences, the fundamental molecular mechanisms regulating cell motility are likely conserved in jamming and unjamming contexts. We will focus on the roles of cytoskeletal activity and cell–cell interactions in governing cell motion. At the molecular level, signaling pathways, including those mediated by small GTPases like RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42, regulate cytoskeletal dynamics, cell adhesion, and protrusion-retraction cycles. These processes determine the cell's ability to navigate its microenvironment and interact with neighboring cells, guiding coordinate movements within tissues to drive jamming or unjamming.

1. Cytoskeletal activities

The cytoskeleton, consisting of actin microfilaments, microtubules, and intermediate filaments, provides structural support in the cytoplasm. Actin and microtubules can independently polymerize in a polarized manner using energy from ATP or GTP hydrolysis, exerting pushing forces against the cell membrane.^{93,94} As a result, increased actin polymerization at cell protrusions can lead to large-scale, coordinated cell movements that fluidize 2D cell layers and 3D spheroids.^{60,95,96} In contrast, intermediate filaments lack polarity and polymerize without ATP. They do not generate forces but maintain cell integrity by accommodating tensile and compressive stresses from actin and microtubules.⁹⁷

To produce contractile forces to pull on the substrate or neighboring cells, non-muscle myosin II crosslinks actin filaments and use ATP hydrolysis to slide them in opposite direction [Fig. 3(b), left inset].⁹⁸ This actomyosin complex produces tension, regulating cell motility and geometry. The spatiotemporal activation of actin assembly, actomyosin tension, and their interactions with adhesion complexes are central to regulating the fluctuation axis in the jamming diagram.

Rho family GTPases, including RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42, are key regulators of myosin II activities and actin dynamics. Perturbing their functions can thus alter jamming transitions. For example, activating RhoA fluidizes densely packed MDCK epithelial cell monolayers by increasing traction forces.⁹⁹ In contrast, in the *Drosophila* germ-band, activating RhoA increases junctional tension but reduces tension anisotropy, leading to a more solid-like tissue with reduced cell intercalations.¹⁰⁰ Deactivating RhoA lowers tension levels but also reduces anisotropy, maintaining a solid-like state and highlighting the importance of anisotropy in driving unjamming.¹⁰⁰ Finally, polarized tissue flow, such as the anterior movement of the *Drosophila* endoderm

during gastrulation, arises from asymmetrically localized actomyosin activities that produce torque forces along a tissue curvature gradient.¹⁰¹ These findings underscore the critical role of spatiotemporal regulation of actomyosin activities in cell jamming and unjamming. Future studies should focus on understanding how anisotropic actomyosin forces are established and propagated to initiate phase transitions at the cell and tissue levels.

2. Front-rear polarization and RhoA/Rac1 activities

Symmetry breaking in cell movement, essential for unjamming transitions, often arises from cell and tissue polarization. Front-rear polarization of cells, crucial for directed cell migration, involves the spatiotemporal regulation of actin assembly and actomyosin contractility in response to external cues.^{102,103} The mutual inhibition between RhoA and Rac1 is key to this process: RhoA inhibits Rac1, and Rac1 inhibits RhoA, creating a gradient along the cell's front-rear axis [Fig. 3(b)].^{104,105} At the cell front, Rac1 activation promotes actin polymerization and lamellipodia formation, while RhoA activation at the rear enhances actomyosin contractility for contraction.^{106,107} Ectopic RhoA activation reduces protrusion and increases adhesion, favoring a static state, while Rac1 activation promotes protrusion and reduces adhesion,¹⁰⁸ favoring motility. However, Rac1-RhoA distribution is context-dependent and dynamic;^{109,110} for example, in MDCK monolayers active RhoA is present at the leading edge of migrating leader cells, which exerts high traction forces to pull cells forward.¹¹¹ The regulation of Rac1-RhoA polarity during jamming-unjamming transitions remains not fully understood.

Front-rear polarization in collectively moving cells can be established and propagated through ERK-mediated mechanochemical waves, which orient collective cell movement opposite to the wave direction.^{112,113} In this process, actomyosin contraction forces transmitted through cell-cell junctions stretch neighboring cells, polarizing Rac1 activation at the front of the follower cell.¹¹⁴ This stretching also triggers ERK signaling, which orients front-rear polarity and induces actomyosin contraction at the cell rear, pulling on the next follower cell.¹¹⁵ This cycle of ERK waves and actomyosin contraction enables coordinated collective cell migration. In unstimulated cells, stochastic ERK activation and oscillation can be initiated by cell protrusions,¹ suggesting that localized mechanical fluctuations could be amplified and propagated through ERK waves to fluidize the system. Future research should investigate how front-rear polarity initiates phase transitions and how ERK signaling mediates mechanical signals to control cellular jamming and unjamming in development and cancer contexts.

3. Cryptic protrusions in confluent monolayers

Similar to the lamellipodia of leader cells in collective migration, cells within a fluidized epithelial layer can develop microprotrusions, or cryptic protrusions, even when surrounded by neighboring cells.^{107,117–119} These dynamic structures are composed of actin filaments, which form branched network at adherens junctions and push outward on the cell membrane at mechanically weak sites of the cell-cell boundary^{107,119} [Fig. 3(b), right inset]. Integrins link the actin cyto-skeleton to the extracellular matrix at focal adhesions, converting actomyosin forces into traction for cell movement.^{120,121} Rac1/Cdc42^{122,123} and EGF/PDGF^{124–126} signaling likely regulate microprotrusion formation, similar to their roles in lamellipodia and filopodia

formation. Given the central role of microprotrusions in guiding cell movements,¹¹⁸ future studies should investigate the mechanisms inducing their formation and their role in unjamming tissues.

4. Contact inhibition of locomotion (CIL) and related mechanisms

While actomyosin-dependent traction forces enable cell unjamming, stopping and redirecting cell movement is essential for the jamming transition. Contact inhibition of locomotion (CIL) stops and redirects cell movement through a four-step process.¹²⁷ First, cell-cell contact triggers intercellular connections, including various receptors and adherens junction components.^{128–130} This contact, along with WNT-PCP signaling, inhibits protrusions by inducing Rac1 inhibition and RhoA activation at the interface, depolarizing front-rear asymmetry.^{131,132} Next, changes in small GTPase activity increase actomyosin contraction and microtubule turnover, repolarizing and reversing the cell's front-rear directionality.^{131,133–135} Finally, repolarized cells initially migrate away, but in crowded environments, CIL decreases traction asymmetry (i.e., front-rear polarity) and results in reduced cell movement.^{127,136}

CIL plays a pivotal role in controlling tissue remodeling and cell movement during development and disease progression. It regulates cell organization during gastrulation^{137,138} and neural crest cell migration.^{131,139} On the other hand, dysregulated CIL can lead to aberrant cell invasion during cancer metastasis.^{140,141} Recent studies on collective cell migration highlight the relationship between CIL and cell jamming–unjamming, showing that CIL induces spontaneous cell swarming and streaming.^{142–144} Intercellular polarity alignment can drive tissues toward a "solid-flocking" state, where cell collectives are

internally rigid with minimal neighbor exchange, yet move coherently as a unit.^{44,60,66,145} In cancer cell lines, this flocking behavior is linked to collective cell motility.¹⁴⁶ Particle-based simulations have demonstrated a feedback mechanism among CIL, cell density, and cell–cell adhesion, inducing a non-motile state with a wide distribution of traction forces.¹³⁶ Notably, early simulation models^{78,82} of jamming and unjamming transitions often modulate cell motility without explicitly considering the CIL mechanism. Future studies should investigate how cell–cell biomechanical interactions influence cell motility and collective movements during the jamming transition.

III. CELL GEOMETRY AND JAMMING

A. Geometry-regulated cell jamming

In a confluent tissue, all cell movements require changes in cell geometries, necessitating cell rearrangements like intercalation (T1 transition) or extrusion (T2 transition).^{100,147} The influence of cell geometries on movements and jamming transitions has been mainly explored through theoretical studies, including vertex models,^{55,148–150} multi-phase-field models,^{82,151} active foam models,^{81,83} and deformable element models.¹⁵² These simulations show that geometry-regulated jamming transitions in tissues are typically governed by the shape index.²

Tissues with a small mean shape index exhibit rigidity due to energy barriers that inhibit cell rearrangement, resulting in geometrically incompatible cell packing [Fig. 4(a)]. When cell packing is frustrated, cells adjust their morphology to achieve the desired perimeter and area, albeit at the expense of sacrificing neighboring cells optimal morphology.¹⁵³ Consequently, cell shape changes become unfavorable, prohibiting movement. Conversely, tissues with a large shape index allow for geometric compatibility, leading to tissue fluidization as

FIG. 4. Cell geometry and jamming: (a) In the fluid-like and geometrically compatible state, cells can reach the target area and perimeter simultaneously. In the solid-like and geometrically incompatible state, cells fail to reach the target area and perimeter simultaneously, leading to a geometrically frustrated packing. As such, cell shape change that is necessary for cell movement and rearrangement becomes energetically unfavorable. (b) Cell geometry is regulated by cytoskeletal activities, such as actomyosin-driven cortical tension and cell-cell adhesion (upper right box). These cytoskeletal activities jointly regulate the junctional tension and pressure, determining the cell shape (middle panel). Specifically, actomyosin contraction that generates cortical tension can be either myosin II-facilitated polymerization and depolymerization of actin filament (lower right box). The adherens junctions play two essential roles in cell shape control: transmitting mechanical force between neighboring cells and organizing actomyosin tension.

pubs.aip.org/aip/bpr

energy barriers associated with cell rearrangements decrease. In this fluid-like state, cells can easily achieve their target morphology, making movements more permissive.

The interplay between cell shape and junctional tension distribution can also control jamming and unjamming transitions. Cell shape changes reacting to the active cellular stress fluidize the tissue through several intermediate steps.¹⁵⁴ As cell packing transitions from isotropic to anisotropic, rhombile, and finally to nematic phases, the cell layer modulus vanishes, reemerges, and vanishes again, leading to spontaneous tissue flows. In biological tissues, the shape index correlates with the degree of cell rearrangements and tissue fluidity, making it a useful metric for predicting jamming and unjamming transitions.^{55,155} However, because cell shape is also influenced by packing anisotropy⁶ and external forces, the shape index alone does not demonstrate jamming, which requires verification of cell rearrangements and motility using techniques like time-lapse microscopy.

B. Molecular regulation of cell geometry

The regulation of cell geometry involves molecular events controlling junctional tension and cell-cell adhesion. While vertex and finite element models have provided insights into the physical aspects of cell geometry regulation, ^{156–161} experimental research on its molecular control during jamming transitions is limited. For instance, the biological significance of the preferred perimeter and area in vertex models, along with their upstream molecular regulation, remains not fully understood. Here, we draw upon cell biology to provide an overview of the regulation of epithelial cell shape, focusing on how junctional tension and cell-cell adhesion influence cell geometry by modulating cytoskeletal organization and activities.

1. Cytoskeletal activities

Cell shape is determined by intercellular adhesive junctions and mechanical force balance. D'Arcy Thompson's theory and the vertex model suggest that a cell monolayer achieves mechanical equilibrium by minimizing an energy function.¹⁴⁸ Therefore, cells in a tissue aim to achieve a target area and perimeter. These parameters are determined by the balance of junctional tension, which is influenced by the interplay between adhesion complexes and cortical actomyosin contraction [Fig. 4(b)].^{162–164} There are two mechanisms for generating contractions between anti-parallel actin filaments: myosin II motordependent and independent. In the motor-dependent mechanism, dimerized myosin II binds to actin and undergoes power stroke cycles, moving actin filaments in opposite directions to generate tension.^{165–167} Myosin II can also cross-link actin filaments and generate contraction through actin polymerization and depolymerization.^{165,168–171} Therefore, changes in cortical actomyosin activities can induce cell shape changes. For instance, increased myosin II density at the cell cortex aligns actin filaments and enhances cortical tension to reduce apical cell area,¹⁷² while planer polarized forces deform cells, resulting in tissue remodeling.¹⁶

In addition to actin, microtubules also regulate cell area and elongation.^{175–177} Alignment of protruding microtubules along the cell's apical-basal axis drives cell elongation, changing the cell morphology from squamous to columnar.¹⁷⁸ Disruption of microtubule assembly thus decreases the cell height and consequently increases cell apical surface area due to volume conservation.^{179,180} Microtubules can therefore potentially influence the target cell area by altering cell height, controlling jamming and unjamming transitions. Furthermore, microtubule disassembly increases actomyosin contraction through stimulation of RhoA activity.^{181–184} These actomyosin modulations then stabilize and promote the junctional clustering of E-cadherin,^{181,185,186} promoting the epithelial phenotype and corresponding morphology.

Intermediate filament networks, such as keratin filaments, also maintain cell morphology by providing mechanical support.¹⁸⁷ This tension-bearing system modulates compressive stress from actomyosin; without keratin filaments, cells soften and morphology changes.¹⁸⁸ Intermediate filaments influence cell shape also due to their semi-flexibility; for example, inhibiting vimentin filaments in fibroblasts causes cells to change from an elongated mesenchymal shape to a rounded one.^{187,188} In addition, actin and keratin filaments form distinct networks but interact, as disrupting actin filaments reorganizes the keratin network.¹⁸⁸ Therefore, future experiments should explore how interactions between different cytoskeletons and cell adhesion complexes regulate cell shapes during jamming–unjamming transitions.

2. Cell-cell interactions

Cell-cell interactions via adhesion complexes mechanically connect cells and regulate their shapes by modulating actomyosin tension.^{189,190} For instance, adherens junctions transmit mechanical forces between cells, crucial for morphogenesis and tissue remodeling. As shown in Fig. 4(b), cadherins are the main adhesive structures in these junctions.¹⁹¹ These transmembrane proteins mediate cell-cell adhesion through homophilic interactions, facilitating extracellular force transduction. Inside the cell, cadherins bind to β -catenin, which connects actin filaments to cadherins via *α*-catenin, enabling biochemical signaling and intracellular force transduction.¹⁹² These interactions confer mechanical strength to adherens junctions and organize actin polymerization, bundling, myosin II recruitment, and branched actin network disassembly.^{193–199} Disruption of the cadherin-actin linkage thus leads to the disorganization of adherens junctions and altered cell shapes.²⁰⁰ Importantly, α -catenin is mechanosensitive; tensile stresses stretch it into an open conformation, promoting vinculin binding and activation, which drives further actin assembly at adherens junctions.²⁰¹⁻²⁰⁵ This response allows cells to adjust adhesion strength and remodel shapes. Finally, β -catenin can move to the nucleus in response to mechanical stimuli,^{206,207} influencing gene expression important for epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. $^{\bar{2}0\bar{8}-210}$ However, how these mechanisms are spatiotemporally regulated to control jamming and unjamming is still an open question.

In addition to adherens junctions, the desmosome-keratin filament complex is crucial for cell-cell adhesion, counteracting actomyosin contraction.¹⁸⁸ Weak interactions between desmosomes and keratin filaments can impair cell attachment.¹⁸⁸ Microtubules also impact adhesion by delivering adhesive molecules like cadherins and integrins to cell junctions.¹⁸¹ Additionally, tricellular junctions, where three cells meet, regulate cell geometry.²¹¹ Tricellulin, a key protein in these junctions, organizes actomyosin and controls its contractility,^{211,212} influencing cell shape through junctional tension. Knockdown of tricellulin results in irregular cell shapes and disorganized actin fibers at tricellular contacts.²¹² Altogether, perturbing cell-cell interactions alters cell geometry by modifying cytoskeletal activities and junctional tension. These changes can affect target area, perimeter, and the energy barrier for cell movement, influencing cell jamming and unjamming. Future experiments should explore how junctional tension, adhesion strength, and cytoskeletal interactions regulate cell shapes and jamming-unjamming transitions.

IV. CONCLUSIONS

Tissue remodeling is driven by biologically determined changes in cell mechanical properties. The discovery of fluid–solid transitions, namely, cell jamming and unjamming, during tissue remodeling has enhanced our understanding of how subtle changes in cell connectivity, motility, and morphology influence tissue organization. By examining the cellular machinery and processes that coordinate force generation, transmission, and cell–cell interactions, we can begin to unravel the molecular events underlying the physical principles of the cell jamming phase diagram. However, understanding the interplay between these biophysical processes requires further investigation into how molecular mechanisms dictate jamming physics and how physical factors influence cellular behaviors.

Despite theoretical progress, validating cell jamming–unjamming theories in various biological systems requires comprehensive experimental data. Dissecting the mechanisms governing cell jamming and unjamming is hindered by technical challenges in monitoring tissue dynamics and the inherent complexity of biological systems. Future experiments using genetic and pharmacological techniques to specifically perturb cell connectivity, motility, and morphology promise to identify the underlying physical mechanisms and biological drivers controlling tissue remodeling through cell jamming and unjamming transitions.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We sincerely thank Max Bi for his insightful contributions to the theoretical aspects of this work. Z.D.L., A.B., and N.Y.C.L. were supported by NSF (Grant Nos. CBET-2244760 and DBI-2325121) and NIH NIGMS (Grant No. R35GM146735). J.K.H. was supported by NIH NIDCR (Grant No. R01DE030471).

AUTHOR DECLARATIONS

Conflict of Interest

The authors have no conflicts to disclose.

Author Contributions

Zoe Latham: Conceptualization (equal); Investigation (equal); Project administration (equal); Resources (equal); Supervision (equal); Writing – original draft (equal); Writing – review & editing (equal). Alexandra Bermudez: Conceptualization (equal); Funding acquisition (equal); Investigation (equal); Project administration (equal); Resources (equal); Supervision (equal); Writing – original draft (equal); Writing – review & editing (equal). Jimmy Hu: Conceptualization (equal); Funding acquisition (equal); Investigation (equal); Project administration (equal); Investigation (equal); Project administration (equal); Resources (equal); Supervision (equal); Writing – original draft (equal); Writing – review & editing (equal). Neil Lin: Conceptualization (equal); Investigation (equal); Project administration (equal); Resources (equal); Supervision (equal); Writing – original draft (equal); Writing – review & editing (equal).

DATA AVAILABILITY

Data sharing is not applicable to this article as no new data were created or analyzed in this study.

REFERENCES

- ¹E. Lawson-Keister and M. L. Manning, "Jamming and arrest of cell motion in biological tissues," Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. **72**, 146–155 (2021).
- ²P.-F. Lenne and V. Trivedi, "Sculpting tissues by phase transitions," Nat. Commun. 13, 664 (2022).
- ³V. Trappe, V. Prasad, L. Cipelletti, P. Segre, and D. A. Weitz, "Jamming phase diagram for attractive particles," Nature 411, 772–775 (2001).
- ⁴A. Brugués, E. Anon, V. Conte, J. H. Veldhuis, M. Gupta, J. Colombelli, J. J. Muñoz, G. W. Brodland, B. Ladoux, and X. Trepat, "Forces driving epithelial wound healing," Nat. Phys. **10**, 683–690 (2014).
- ⁵M. Basan, J. Elgeti, E. Hannezo, W.-J. Rappel, and H. Levine, "Alignment of cellular motility forces with tissue flow as a mechanism for efficient wound healing," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **110**, 2452–2459 (2013).
- ⁶X. Wang, M. Merkel, L. B. Sutter, G. Erdemci-Tandogan, M. L. Manning, and K. E. Kasza, "Anisotropy links cell shapes to tissue flow during convergent extension," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **117**, 13541–13551 (2020).
- ⁷C. Bertet, L. Sulak, and T. Lecuit, "Myosin-dependent junction remodelling controls planar cell intercalation and axis elongation," Nature **429**, 667–671 (2004).
- ⁸M. Behrndt, G. Salbreux, P. Campinho, R. Hauschild, F. Oswald, J. Roensch, S. W. Grill, and C.-P. Heisenberg, "Forces driving epithelial spreading in zebrafish gastrulation," Science **338**, 257–260 (2012).
- ⁹N. I. Petridou, S. Grigolon, G. Salbreux, E. Hannezo, and C.-P. Heisenberg, "Fluidization-mediated tissue spreading by mitotic cell rounding and noncanonical WNT signalling," Nat. Cell Biol. 21, 169–178 (2019).
- ¹⁰ J.-A. Park, J. H. Kim, D. Bi, J. A. Mitchel, N. T. Qazvini, K. Tantisira, C. Y. Park, M. McGill, S.-H. Kim, B. Gweon *et al.*, "Unjamming and cell shape in the asthmatic airway epithelium," Nat. Mater. **14**, 1040–1048 (2015).
- ¹¹J.-A. Park, L. Atia, J. A. Mitchel, J. J. Fredberg, and J. P. Butler, "Collective migration and cell jamming in asthma, cancer and development," J. Cell Sci. **129**, 3375–3383 (2016).
- ¹²E. Blauth, H. Kubitschke, P. Gottheil, S. Grosser, and J. A. Käs, "Jamming in embryogenesis and cancer progression," Front. Phys. 9, 666709 (2021).
- ¹³I. Pajic-Lijakovic and M. Milivojevic, "Cell jamming-to-unjamming transitions and vice versa in development: Physical aspects," Biosystems 234, 105045 (2023).
- ¹⁴L. Atia, J. J. Fredberg, N. S. Gov, and A. F. Pegoraro, "Are cell jamming and unjamming essential in tissue development?," Cells Dev. **168**, 203727 (2021).
- ¹⁵S. J. DeCamp, V. M. Tsuda, J. Ferruzzi, S. A. Koehler, J. T. Giblin, D. Roblyer, M. H. Zaman, S. T. Weiss, A. Kılıç, M. De Marzio *et al.*, "Epithelial layer unjamming shifts energy metabolism toward glycolysis," Sci. Rep. **10**, 18302 (2020).
- ¹⁶T. Fuhs, F. Wetzel, A. W. Fritsch, X. Li, R. Stange, S. Pawlizak, T. R. Kießling, E. Morawetz, S. Grosser, F. Sauer *et al.*, "Rigid tumours contain soft cancer cells," Nat. Phys. **18**, 1510–1519 (2022).
- ¹⁷P. Gottheil, J. Lippoldt, S. Grosser, F. Renner, M. Saibah, D. Tschodu, A.-K. Poßögel, A.-S. Wegscheider, B. Ulm, K. Friedrichs *et al.*, "State of cell unjamming correlates with distant metastasis in cancer patients," Phys. Rev. X 13, 031003 (2023).
- ¹⁸K.-J. Streitberger, L. Lilaj, F. Schrank, J. Braun, K.-T. Hoffmann, M. Reiss-Zimmermann, J. A. Käs, and I. Sack, "How tissue fluidity influences brain tumor progression," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 117, 128–134 (2020).
- ¹⁹R. Ross, N. B. Everett, and R. Tyler, "Wound healing and collagen formation: VI. The origin of the wound fibroblast studied in parabiosis," J. Cell Biol. 44, 645–654 (1970).
- ²⁰W. Buschke, "Morphologic changes in cells of corneal epithelium in wound healing," Arch. Ophthalmol. **41**, 306–316 (1949).

- ²¹M. T. Burrows, "Wound healing in vitro," in Proceedings of the New York Pathological Society (New York Pathological Society, 1912), Vol. 13.
- ²²M. Somssich, "A short history of plant light microscopy," Curr. Protoc. 2, e577 (2022).
- ²³O. Chepizhko, M. C. Lionetti, C. Malinverno, C. Giampietro, G. Scita, S. Zapperi, and C. A. La Porta, "From jamming to collective cell migration through a boundary induced transition," Soft Matter 14, 3774-3782 (2018).
- ²⁴J. D. Jones, H. E. Ramser, A. E. Woessner, A. Veves, and K. P. Quinn, "Quantifying age-related changes in skin wound metabolism using in vivo multiphoton microscopy," Adv. Wound Care 9, 90-102 (2020).
- ²⁵M. Sadati, A. Nourhani, J. J. Fredberg, and N. Taheri Qazvini, "Glass-like dynamics in the cell and in cellular collectives," WIREs Mech. Disease. 6, 137-149 (2014).
- ²⁶T. E. Angelini, E. Hannezo, X. Trepat, M. Marquez, J. J. Fredberg, and D. A. Weitz, "Glass-like dynamics of collective cell migration," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 4714-4719 (2011).
- 27S. Garcia, E. Hannezo, J. Elgeti, J.-F. Joanny, P. Silberzan, and N. S. Gov, "Physics of active jamming during collective cellular motion in a monolayer," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 112, 15314-15319 (2015).
- 28 R. J. Tetley, M. F. Staddon, D. Heller, A. Hoppe, S. Banerjee, and Y. Mao, "Tissue fluidity promotes epithelial wound healing," Nat. Phys. 15, 1195-1203 (2019).
- 29 D. Sweeton, S. Parks, M. Costa, and E. Wieschaus, "Gastrulation in drosophila: The formation of the ventral furrow and posterior midgut invaginations," Development 112, 775-789 (1991).
- ³⁰S. J. Mathew, M. Rembold, and M. Leptin, "Role for traf4 in polarizing adherens junctions as a prerequisite for efficient cell shape changes," Mol. Cell. Biol. 31, 4978-4993 (2011).
- ³¹P.-A. Pouille, P. Ahmadi, A.-C. Brunet, and E. Farge, "Mechanical signals trigger myosin II redistribution and mesoderm invagination in drosophila embryos," Sci. Signaling 2, ra16 (2009). ³²A. C. Martin, M. Kaschube, and E. F. Wieschaus, "Pulsed actin-myosin net-
- work contractions drive apical constriction," Nature 457, 495 (2009).
- ³³M. Weng and E. Wieschaus, "Myosin-dependent remodeling of adherens junctions protects junctions from snail-dependent disassembly," J. Cell Biol. 212, 219-229 (2016).
- 34L. Atia, D. Bi, Y. Sharma, J. A. Mitchel, B. Gweon, S. A. Koehler, S. J. DeCamp, B. Lan, J. H. Kim, R. Hirsch et al., "Geometric constraints during epithelial jamming," Nat. Phys. 14, 613-620 (2018).
- ³⁵D. Bi, J. H. Lopez, J. M. Schwarz, and M. L. Manning, "Energy barriers and cell migration in densely packed tissues," Soft Matter 10, 1885-1890 (2014).
- ³⁶E.-M. Schoetz, M. Lanio, J. A. Talbot, and M. L. Manning, "Glassy dynamics in three-dimensional embryonic tissues," J. R. Soc. Interface 10, 20130726 (2013).
- 37 H. Yang, A. F. Pegoraro, Y. Han, W. Tang, R. Abeyaratne, D. Bi, and M. Guo, "Configurational fingerprints of multicellular living systems," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 118, e2109168118 (2021).
- ³⁸K. D. Irvine and E. Wieschaus, "Cell intercalation during drosophila germband extension and its regulation by pair-rule segmentation genes," Development 120, 827-841 (1994).
- ³⁹H. Morita, S. Grigolon, M. Bock, S. G. Krens, G. Salbreux, and C.-P. Heisenberg, "The physical basis of coordinated tissue spreading in zebrafish gastrulation," Dev. Cell 40, 354-366 (2017).
- 40S. G. Babb and J. A. Marrs, "E-cadherin regulates cell movements and tissue formation in early zebrafish embryos," Dev. Dyn. 230, 263-277 (2004).
- ⁴¹N. I. Petridou, B. Corominas-Murtra, C.-P. Heisenberg, and E. Hannezo, "Rigidity percolation uncovers a structural basis for embryonic tissue phase transitions," Cell 184, 1914-1928 (2021).
- ⁴²D. Pinheiro, R. Kardos, É. Hannezo, and C.-P. Heisenberg, "Morphogen gradient orchestrates pattern-preserving tissue morphogenesis via motilitydriven unjamming," Nat. Phys. 18, 1482-1493 (2022).
- 43P. C. Veerati, J. A. Mitchel, A. T. Reid, D. A. Knight, N. W. Bartlett, J.-A. Park, and C. L. Grainge, "Airway mechanical compression: Its role in asthma pathogenesis and progression," Eur. Respir. Rev. 29, 190123 (2020).
- 44J. A. Mitchel, A. Das, M. J. O'Sullivan, I. T. Stancil, S. J. DeCamp, S. Koehler, O. H. Ocaña, J. P. Butler, J. J. Fredberg, M. A. Nieto et al., "In primary airway epithelial cells, the unjamming transition is distinct from the epithelial-tomesenchymal transition," Nat. Commun. 11, 5053 (2020).

- 45 I. T. Stancil, J. E. Michalski, D. Davis-Hall, H. W. Chu, J.-A. Park, C. M. Magin, I. V. Yang, B. J. Smith, E. Dobrinskikh, and D. A. Schwartz, "Pulmonary fibrosis distal airway epithelia are dynamically and structurally dvsfunctional," Nat. Commun. 12, 4566 (2021).
- ⁴⁶D. Bi, J. Zhang, B. Chakraborty, and R. P. Behringer, "Jamming by shear," Nature 480, 355-358 (2011).
- ⁴⁷C. S. O'hern, L. E. Silbert, A. J. Liu, and S. R. Nagel, "Jamming at zero temperature and zero applied stress: The epitome of disorder," Phys. Rev. E 68, 011306 (2003).
- 48T. Majmudar, M. Sperl, S. Luding, and R. P. Behringer, "Jamming transition in granular systems," Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 058001 (2007).
- 49 C. P. Goodrich, A. J. Liu, and J. P. Sethna, "Scaling ansatz for the jamming transition," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 113, 9745-9750 (2016).
- ⁵⁰P. Charbonneau, E. I. Corwin, G. Parisi, and F. Zamponi, "Jamming criticality revealed by removing localized buckling excitations," Phys. Rev. Lett. 114, 125504 (2015).
- ⁵¹R. P. Behringer and B. Chakraborty, "The physics of jamming for granular materials: A review," Rep. Prog. Phys. 82, 012601 (2018).
- ⁵²A. J. Liu and S. R. Nagel, "Twenty-five years of the jamming phase diagram," Nat. Rev. Phys. 5, 630-631 (2023).
- 53C. Song, P. Wang, and H. A. Makse, "A phase diagram for jammed matter," Nature 453, 629-632 (2008).
- ⁵⁴A. J. Liu and S. R. Nagel, "The jamming transition and the marginally jammed solid," Annu. Rev. Condens. Matter Phys. 1, 347-369 (2010).
- ⁵⁵D. Bi, J. Lopez, J. M. Schwarz, and M. L. Manning, "A density-independent rigidity transition in biological tissues," Nat. Phys. 11, 1074-1079 (2015).
- 56I. Pajic-Lijakovic and M. Milivojevic, "Physics of collective cell migration," Eur. Biophys. J. 52, 625-640 (2023).
- ⁵⁷P. Charbonneau, J. Kurchan, G. Parisi, P. Urbani, and F. Zamponi, "Glass and jamming transitions: From exact results to finite-dimensional descriptions," Annu. Rev. Condens. Matter Phys. 8, 265–288 (2017).
- ⁵⁸E. Hannezo and C.-P. Heisenberg, "Rigidity transitions in development and disease," Trends Cell Biol. 32, 433-444 (2022).
- ⁵⁹F. Brauns, N. H. Claussen, M. F. Lefebvre, E. F. Wieschaus, and B. I. Shraiman, "The geometric basis of epithelial convergent extension," eLife 13, RP95521 (2023).
- 60 C. Malinverno, S. Corallino, F. Giavazzi, M. Bergert, Q. Li, M. Leoni, A. Disanza, E. Frittoli, A. Oldani, E. Martini et al., "Endocytic reawakening of motility in jammed epithelia," Nat. Mater. 16, 587-596 (2017).
- ⁶¹L. Ortlieb, T. S. Ingebrigtsen, J. E. Hallett, F. Turci, and C. P. Royall, "Probing excitations and cooperatively rearranging regions in deeply supercooled liquids," Nat. Commun. 14, 2621 (2023).
- ⁶²J. D. Stevenson, J. Schmalian, and P. G. Wolynes, "The shapes of cooperatively rearranging regions in glass-forming liquids," Nat. Phys. 2, 268-274 (2006).
- 63 R. Massaro, G. Colombo, P. Van Puyvelde, and J. Vermant, "Viscoelastic cluster densification in sheared colloidal gels," Soft Matter 16, 2437-2447 (2020).
- ⁶⁴N. Koumakis, E. Moghimi, R. Besseling, W. C. Poon, J. F. Brady, and G. Petekidis, "Tuning colloidal gels by shear," Soft Matter 11, 4640–4648 (2015).
- 65S. Henkes, K. Kostanjevec, J. M. Collinson, R. Sknepnek, and E. Bertin, "Dense active matter model of motion patterns in confluent cell monolayers," Nat. Commun. 11, 1405 (2020).
- 66F. Giavazzi, M. Paoluzzi, M. Macchi, D. Bi, G. Scita, M. L. Manning, R. Cerbino, and M. C. Marchetti, "Flocking transitions in confluent tissues," Soft Matter 14, 3471-3477 (2018).
- ⁶⁷B. Li and S. X. Sun, "Coherent motions in confluent cell monolayer sheets," Biophys. J. 107, 1532-1541 (2014).
- ⁶⁸N. Gal, D. Lechtman-Goldstein, and D. Weihs, "Particle tracking in living cells: A review of the mean square displacement method and beyond," Rheol. Acta 52, 425-443 (2013).
- 69 I. Chakraborty and Y. Roichman, "Disorder-induced Fickian, yet non-gaussian diffusion in heterogeneous media," Phys. Rev. Res. 2, 022020 (2020).
- ⁷⁰C. K. Mishra, A. Rangarajan, and R. Ganapathy, "Two-step glass transition induced by attractive interactions in quasi-two-dimensional suspensions of ellipsoidal particles," Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 188301 (2013).
- ⁷¹D. M. Sussman and M. Merkel, "No unjamming transition in a voronoi model of biological tissue," Soft Matter 14, 3397-3403 (2018).

- ⁷²M. Merkel, K. Baumgarten, B. P. Tighe, and M. L. Manning, "A minimallength approach unifies rigidity in underconstrained materials," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 116, 6560–6568 (2019).
- ⁷³A. Donev, S. Torquato, F. H. Stillinger, and R. Connelly, "Jamming in hard sphere and disk packings," J. Appl. Phys. 95, 989–999 (2004).
- ⁷⁴I. Pajic-Lijakovic and M. Milivojevic, "Viscoelasticity and cell jamming state transition," Eur. Phys. J. Plus 136, 750 (2021).
- ⁷⁵M. Czajkowski, D. M. Sussman, M. C. Marchetti, and M. L. Manning, "Glassy dynamics in models of confluent tissue with mitosis and apoptosis," Soft Matter 15, 9133–9149 (2019).
- ⁷⁶J. Devany, M. J. Falk, L. J. Holt, A. Murugan, and M. L. Gardel, "Epithelial tissue confinement inhibits cell growth and leads to volume-reducing divisions," Dev. Cell 58, 1462–1476 (2023).
- ⁷⁷M. Sadati, N. T. Qazvini, R. Krishnan, C. Y. Park, and J. J. Fredberg, "Collective migration and cell jamming," Differentiation 86, 121–125 (2013).
- ⁷⁸D. Bi, X. Yang, M. C. Marchetti, and M. L. Manning, "Motility-driven glass and jamming transitions in biological tissues," Phys. Rev. X 6, 021011 (2016).
- ⁷⁹ I. Pajic-Lijakovic and M. Milivojevic, "Jamming state transition and collective cell migration," J. Biol. Eng. 13(1), 73 (2019).
- ⁸⁰S. Sastry, P. G. Debenedetti, and F. H. Stillinger, "Signatures of distinct dynamical regimes in the energy landscape of a glass-forming liquid," Nature 393, 554–557 (1998).
- ⁸¹A. Mongera, P. Rowghanian, H. J. Gustafson, E. Shelton, D. A. Kealhofer, E. K. Carn, F. Serwane, A. A. Lucio, J. Giammona, and O. Campàs, "A fluid-to-solid jamming transition underlies vertebrate body axis elongation," Nature 561, 401–405 (2018).
- ⁸²B. Loewe, M. Chiang, D. Marenduzzo, and M. C. Marchetti, "Solid-liquid transition of deformable and overlapping active particles," Phys. Rev. Lett. 125, 038003 (2020).
- ⁸³S. Kim, M. Pochitaloff, G. A. Stooke-Vaughan, and O. Campàs, "Embryonic tissues as active foams," Nat. Phys. 17, 859–866 (2021).
- ⁸⁴J. Huang, H. Levine, and D. Bi, "Bridging the gap between collective motility and epithelial-mesenchymal transitions through the active finite voronoi model," Soft Matter 19, 9389–9398 (2023).
- ⁸⁵T.-K. N. Phung, J. A. Mitchel, M. J. O'Sullivan, and J.-A. Park, "Quantification of basal stem cell elongation and stress fiber accumulation in the pseudostratified airway epithelium during the unjamming transition," Biol. Open 12, bio059727 (2023).
- ⁸⁶G. Cai, A. Nguyen, Y. Bashirzadeh, S.-S. Lin, D. Bi, and A. P. Liu, "Compressive stress drives adhesion-dependent unjamming transitions in breast cancer cell migration," Front. Cell Dev. Biol. **10**, 933042 (2022).
- 87 F. H. Stillinger and P. G. Debenedetti, "Glass transition thermodynamics and kinetics," Annu. Rev. Condens. Matter Phys. 4, 263–285 (2013).
- ⁸⁸E. Fodor, C. Nardini, M. E. Cates, J. Tailleur, P. Visco, and F. Van Wijland, "How far from equilibrium is active matter?," Phys. Rev. Lett. **117**, 038103 (2016).
- ⁸⁹D. Loi, S. Mossa, and L. F. Cugliandolo, "Effective temperature of active complex matter," Soft Matter 7, 3726–3729 (2011).
 ⁹⁰A. Loisy, J. Eggers, and T. B. Liverpool, "How many ways a cell can move:
- ⁹⁰A. Loisy, J. Eggers, and T. B. Liverpool, "How many ways a cell can move: The modes of self-propulsion of an active drop," Soft Matter 16, 3106–3124 (2020).
- ⁹¹A. Haeger, K. Wolf, M. M. Zegers, and P. Friedl, "Collective cell migration: Guidance principles and hierarchies," <u>Trends Cell Biol</u>. 25, 556–566 (2015).
- ⁹²O. Ilina, P. G. Gritsenko, S. Syga, J. Lippoldt, C. A. La Porta, O. Chepizhko, S. Grosser, M. Vullings, G.-J. Bakker, J. Starruß *et al.*, "Cell-cell adhesion and 3D matrix confinement determine jamming transitions in breast cancer invasion," Nat. Cell Biol. 22, 1103–1115 (2020).
- ⁹³M. J. Footer, J. W. Kerssemakers, J. A. Theriot, and M. Dogterom, "Direct measurement of force generation by actin filament polymerization using an optical trap," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **104**, 2181–2186 (2007).
- M. Dogterom and B. Yurke, "Measurement of the force-velocity relation for growing microtubules," Science 278, 856–860 (1997).
 A. Palamidessi, C. Malinverno, E. Frittoli, S. Corallino, E. Barbieri, S.
- ⁹⁵A. Palamidessi, C. Malinverno, E. Frittoli, S. Corallino, E. Barbieri, S. Sigismund, G. V. Beznoussenko, E. Martini, M. Garre, I. Ferrara *et al.*, "Unjamming overcomes kinetic and proliferation arrest in terminally differentiated cells and promotes collective motility of carcinoma," Nat. Mater. 18, 1252–1263 (2019).

- ⁹⁶E. Frittoli, A. Palamidessi, F. Iannelli, F. Zanardi, S. Villa, L. Barzaghi, H. Abdo, V. Cancila, G. V. Beznoussenko, G. Della Chiara *et al.*, "Tissue fluidification promotes a cGAS-sting cytosolic DNA response in invasive breast cancer," Nat. Mater. 22, 644–655 (2023).
- 97 E. Infante and S. Etienne-Manneville, "Intermediate filaments: Integration of cell mechanical properties during migration," Front. Cell Dev. Biol. 10, 951816 (2022).
- ⁹⁸M. Vicente-Manzanares, X. Ma, R. S. Adelstein, and A. R. Horwitz, "Nonmuscle myosin II takes centre stage in cell adhesion and migration," Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. **10**, 778–790 (2009).
- 99A. Saraswathibhatla and J. Notbohm, "Tractions and stress fibers control cell shape and rearrangements in collective cell migration," Phys. Rev. X 10, 011016 (2020).
- 100 R. M. Herrera-Perez, C. Cupo, C. Allan, A. B. Dagle, and K. E. Kasza, "Tissue flows are tuned by actomyosin-dependent mechanics in developing embryos," PRX Life 1, 013004 (2023).
- ¹⁰¹E. W. Gehrels, B. Chakrabortty, M.-E. Perrin, M. Merkel, and T. Lecuit, "Curvature gradient drives polarized tissue flow in the drosophila embryo," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **120**, e2214205120 (2023).
- 102B. Ladoux and R.-M. Mège, "Mechanobiology of collective cell behaviours," Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 18, 743–757 (2017).
- 103S. SenGupta, C. A. Parent, and J. E. Bear, "The principles of directed cell migration," Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 22, 529–547 (2021).
- 104 G. Salloum, L. Jaafar, and M. El-Sibai, "Rho A and Rac1: Antagonists moving forward," Tissue Cell 65, 101364 (2020).
- 105 A. J. Ridley, "Rho GTPase signalling in cell migration," Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 36, 103–112 (2015).
- ¹⁰⁶J. S. Ehrlich, M. D. Hansen, and W. J. Nelson, "Spatio-temporal regulation of RAC1 localization and lamellipodia dynamics during epithelial cell-cell adhesion," Dev. Cell 3, 259–270 (2002).
- ¹⁰⁷M. Ozawa, S. Hiver, T. Yamamoto, T. Shibata, S. Upadhyayula, Y. Mimori-Kiyosue, and M. Takeichi, "Adherens junction regulates cryptic lamellipodia formation for epithelial cell migration," J. Cell Biol. **219**, e202006196 (2020).
- 108S. Hanna and M. El-Sibai, "Signaling networks of Rho GTPases in cell motility," Cell. Signalling 25, 1955–1961 (2013).
- ¹⁰⁹O. Pertz, L. Hodgson, R. L. Klemke, and K. M. Hahn, "Spatiotemporal dynamics of Rho A activity in migrating cells," Nature 440, 1069–1072 (2006).
- ¹¹⁰K. Kurokawa and M. Matsuda, "Localized Rho A activation as a requirement for the induction of membrane ruffling," Mol. Biol. Cell 16, 4294–4303 (2005).
- ¹¹¹M. Reffay, M.-C. Parrini, O. Cochet-Escartin, B. Ladoux, A. Buguin, S. Coscoy, F. Amblard, J. Camonis, and P. Silberzan, "Interplay of Rho A and mechanical forces in collective cell migration driven by leader cells," Nat. Cell Biol. 16, 217–223 (2014).
- ¹¹²Y. Matsubayashi, M. Ebisuya, S. Honjoh, and E. Nishida, "ERK activation propagates in epithelial cell sheets and regulates their migration during wound healing," Curr. Biol. 14, 731–735 (2004).
- ¹¹³K. Aoki, Y. Kondo, H. Naoki, T. Hiratsuka, R. E. Itoh, and M. Matsuda, "Propagating wave of ERK activation orients collective cell migration," Dev. Cell 43, 305–317 (2017).
- ¹¹⁴T. Das, K. Safferling, S. Rausch, N. Grabe, H. Boehm, and J. P. Spatz, "A molecular mechanotransduction pathway regulates collective migration of epithelial cells," Nat. Cell Biol. 17, 276–287 (2015).
- ¹¹⁵N. Hino, L. Rossetti, A. Marín-Llauradó, K. Aoki, X. Trepat, M. Matsuda, and T. Hirashima, "ERK-mediated mechanochemical waves direct collective cell polarization," Dev. Cell 53, 646–660 (2020).
- polarization," Dev. Cell 53, 646–660 (2020).
 ¹¹⁶J.-M. Yang, S. Bhattacharya, H. West-Foyle, C.-F. Hung, T.-C. Wu, P. A. Iglesias, and C.-H. Huang, "Integrating chemical and mechanical signals through dynamic coupling between cellular protrusions and pulsed Erk activation," Nat. Commun. 9, 4673 (2018).
- ¹¹⁷R. Farooqui and G. Fenteany, "Multiple rows of cells behind an epithelial wound edge extend cryptic lamellipodia to collectively drive cell-sheet movement," J. Cell Sci. 118, 51–63 (2005).
- ¹¹⁸S. Jain, V. M. Cachoux, G. H. Narayana, S. de Beco, J. D'alessandro, V. Cellerin, T. Chen, M. L. Heuzé, P. Marcq, R.-M. Mège *et al.*, "The role of single-cell mechanical behaviour and polarity in driving collective cell migration," Nat. Phys. **16**, 802–809 (2020).

- ¹¹⁹A. M. Williams, S. Donoughe, E. Munro, and S. Horne-Badovinac, "Fat2 polarizes the wave complex in trans to align cell protrusions for collective migration," eLife 11, e78343 (2022).
- ¹²⁰M. A. Bjerke, B. J. Dzamba, C. Wang, and D. W. DeSimone, "Fak is required for tension-dependent organization of collective cell movements in xenopus mesendoderm," Dev. Biol. **394**, 340–356 (2014).
- ¹²¹L. A. Davidson, M. Marsden, R. Keller, and D. W. DeSimone, "Integrin $\alpha^5 \beta^1$ and fibronectin regulate polarized cell protrusions required for xenopus convergence and extension," Curr. Biol. **16**, 833–844 (2006).
- ¹²²L. S. Price, J. Leng, M. A. Schwartz, and G. M. Bokoch, "Activation of Rac and Cdc42 by integrins mediates cell spreading," Mol. Biol. Cell 9, 1863–1871 (1998).
- ¹²³C. D. Nobes and A. Hall, "Rho, Rac, and Cdc42 GTPases regulate the assembly of multimolecular focal complexes associated with actin stress fibers, lamellipodia, and filopodia," Cell 81, 53–62 (1995).
- ¹²⁴K. Kurokawa, R. E. Itoh, H. Yoshizaki, Y. O. T. Nakamura, and M. Matsuda, "Coactivation of Rac1 and Cdc42 at lamellipodia and membrane ruffles induced by epidermal growth factor," Mol. Biol. Cell 15, 1003–1010 (2004).
- ¹²⁵ M. Nagel and R. Winklbauer, "PDGF-A suppresses contact inhibition during directional collective cell migration," <u>Development</u> 145, dev162651 (2018).
- ¹²⁶M. Nagel, E. Tahinci, K. Symes, and R. Winklbauer, "Guidance of mesoderm cell migration in the Xenopus gastrula requires PDGF signaling," Development 131, 2727–2736 (2004).
- ¹²⁷B. Stramer and R. Mayor, "Mechanisms and *in vivo* functions of contact inhibition of locomotion," Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 18, 43–55 (2017).
- ¹²⁸M. Takeichi, "The cadherins: Cell-cell adhesion molecules controlling animal morphogenesis," Development **102**, 639–655 (1988).
- ¹²⁹W. Chen and B. Obrink, "Cell-cell contacts mediated by e-cadherin (uvomorulin) restrict invasive behavior of l-cells," J. Cell Biol. **114**, 319–327 (1991).
- ¹³⁰M. E. Bracke, H. Depypere, C. Labit, V. Van Marck, K. Vennekens, S. Vermeulen, I. Maelfait, J. Philippé, R. Serreyn, and M. Mareel, "Functional downregulation of the e-cadherin/catenin complex leads to loss of contact inhibition of motility and of mitochondrial activity, but not of growth in confluent epithelial cell cultures," Eur. J. Cell Biol. **74**, 342–349 (1997).
- ¹³¹C. Carmona-Fontaine, H. K. Matthews, S. Kuriyama, M. Moreno, G. A. Dunn, M. Parsons, C. D. Stern, and R. Mayor, "Contact inhibition of locomotion *in vivo* controls neural crest directional migration," Nature **456**, 957–961 (2008).
- ¹³²E. Theveneau, L. Marchant, S. Kuriyama, M. Gull, B. Moepps, M. Parsons, and R. Mayor, "Collective chemotaxis requires contact-dependent cell polarity," Dev. Cell **19**, 39–53 (2010).
- ¹³³J. R. Davis, A. Luchici, F. Mosis, J. Thackery, J. A. Salazar, Y. Mao, G. A. Dunn, T. Betz, M. Miodownik, and B. M. Stramer, "Inter-cellular forces orchestrate contact inhibition of locomotion," Cell 161, 361–373 (2015).
- ¹³⁴R. Moore, E. Theveneau, S. Pozzi, P. Alexandre, J. Richardson, A. Merks, M. Parsons, J. Kashef, C. Linker, and R. Mayor, "Par3 controls neural crest migration by promoting microtubule catastrophe during contact inhibition of locomotion," Development 140, 4763–4775 (2013).
- ¹³⁵S. Kadir, J. W. Astin, L. Tahtamouni, P. Martin, and C. D. Nobes, "Microtubule remodelling is required for the front-rear polarity switch during contact inhibition of locomotion," J. Cell Sci. **124**, 2642–2653 (2011).
- ¹³⁶J. Zimmermann, B. A. Camley, W.-J. Rappel, and H. Levine, "Contact inhibition of locomotion determines cell-cell and cell-substrate forces in tissues," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **113**, 2660–2665 (2016).
- ¹³⁷N. Nakatsuji and K. E. Johnson, "Cell locomotion *in vitro* by xenopus laevis gastrula mesodermal cells," Cell Motil. 2, 149–161 (1982).
- ¹³⁸ R. Winklbauer, A. Selchow, M. Nagel, and B. Angres, "Cell interaction and its role in mesoderm cell migration during xenopus gastrulation," Dev. Dyn. 195, 290–302 (1992).
- ¹³⁹A. Roycroft, A. Szabó, I. Bahm, L. Daly, G. Charras, M. Parsons, and R. Mayor, "Redistribution of adhesive forces through Src/FAK drives contact inhibition of locomotion in neural crest," Dev. Cell **45**, 565–579 (2018).
- ¹⁴⁰A. M. Mendonsa, T.-Y. Na, and B. M. Gumbiner, "E-cadherin in contact inhibition and cancer," Oncogene **37**, 4769–4780 (2018).
- ¹⁴¹R. Mayor and C. Carmona-Fontaine, "Keeping in touch with contact inhibition of locomotion," Trends Cell Biol. 20, 319–328 (2010).

- ¹⁴²B. A. Camley, Y. Zhang, Y. Zhao, B. Li, E. Ben-Jacob, H. Levine, and W.-J. Rappel, "Polarity mechanisms such as contact inhibition of locomotion regulate persistent rotational motion of mammalian cells on micropatterns," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111, 14770–14775 (2014).
- ¹⁴³ R. A. Desai, S. B. Gopal, S. Chen, and C. S. Chen, "Contact inhibition of locomotion probabilities drive solitary versus collective cell migration," J. R. Soc. Interface **10**, 20130717 (2013).
- ¹⁴⁴S. Vedel, S. Tay, D. M. Johnston, H. Bruus, and S. R. Quake, "Migration of cells in a social context," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110, 129–134 (2013).
- ¹⁴⁵G. Zhang, R. Mueller, A. Doostmohammadi, and J. M. Yeomans, "Active inter-cellular forces in collective cell motility," J. R. Soc. Interface 17, 20200312 (2020).
- ¹⁴⁶J. H. Kim, A. F. Pegoraro, A. Das, S. A. Koehler, S. A. Ujwary, B. Lan, J. A. Mitchel, L. Atia, S. He, K. Wang *et al.*, "Unjamming and collective migration in mcf10a breast cancer cell lines," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **521**, 706–715 (2020).
- ¹⁴⁷G. Erdemci-Tandogan and M. L. Manning, "Effect of cellular rearrangement time delays on the rheology of vertex models for confluent tissues," PLoS Comput. Biol. 17, e1009049 (2021).
- ¹⁴⁸R. Farhadifar, J.-C. Röper, B. Aigouy, S. Eaton, and F. Jülicher, "The influence of cell mechanics, cell-cell interactions, and proliferation on epithelial packing," Curr. Biol. 17, 2095–2104 (2007).
- ¹⁴⁹A. Das, S. Sastry, and D. Bi, "Controlled neighbor exchanges drive glassy behavior, intermittency, and cell streaming in epithelial tissues," Phys. Rev. X 11, 041037 (2021).
- ¹⁵⁰X. Yang, D. Bi, M. Czajkowski, M. Merkel, M. L. Manning, and M. C. Marchetti, "Correlating cell shape and cellular stress in motile confluent tissues," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. **114**, 12663–12668 (2017).
- ¹⁵¹A. Hopkins, M. Chiang, B. Loewe, D. Marenduzzo, and M. C. Marchetti, "Local yield and compliance in active cell monolayers," Phys. Rev. Lett. **129**, 148101 (2022).
- ¹⁵²A. Boromand, A. Signoriello, F. Ye, C. S. O'Hern, and M. D. Shattuck, "Jamming of deformable polygons," Phys. Rev. Lett. **121**, 248003 (2018).
- ¹⁵³L. Yan and D. Bi, "Multicellular rosettes drive fluid-solid transition in epithelial tissues," Phys. Rev. X 9, 011029 (2019).
- ¹⁵⁴S.-Z. Lin, M. Merkel, and J.-F. Rupprecht, "Structure and rheology in vertex models under cell-shape-dependent active stresses," Phys. Rev. Lett. 130, 058202 (2023).
- 155, B. Lemke and C. M. Nelson, "Dynamic changes in epithelial cell packing during tissue morphogenesis," Curr. Biol. **31**, R1098–R1110 (2021).
- 156 S. Alt, P. Ganguly, and G. Salbreux, "Vertex models: From cell mechanics to tissue morphogenesis," Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B **372**, 20150520 (2017).
- 157 A. G. Fletcher, M. Osterfield, R. E. Baker, and S. Y. Shvartsman, "Vertex models of epithelial morphogenesis," Biophys. J. 106, 2291–2304 (2014).
- ¹⁵⁸D. L. Barton, S. Henkes, C. J. Weijer, and R. Sknepnek, "Active vertex model for cell-resolution description of epithelial tissue mechanics," PLoS Comput. Biol. 13, e1005569 (2017).
- 159A. G. Fletcher, F. Cooper, and R. E. Baker, "Mechanocellular models of epithelial morphogenesis," Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 372, 20150519 (2017).
- 160 G. W. Brodland, D. Viens, and J. H. Veldhuis, "A new cell-based Fe model for the mechanics of embryonic epithelia," Comput. Methods Biomech. Biomed. Eng. 10, 121–128 (2007).
- ¹⁶¹H. L. Dailey, L. M. Ricles, H. C. Yalcin, and S. N. Ghadiali, "Image-based finite element modeling of alveolar epithelial cell injury during airway reopening," J. Appl. Physiol. **106**, 221–232 (2009).
- ¹⁶²G. W. Brodland, "The differential interfacial tension hypothesis (DITH): a comprehensive theory for the self-rearrangement of embryonic cells and tissues," J. Biomech. Eng. **124**, 188–197 (2002).
- 163 G. Charras *et al.*, "Tensile forces and mechanotransduction at cell-cell junctions," Curr. Biol. 28, R445–R457 (2018).
- 164 T. Lecuit and P.-F. Lenne, "Cell surface mechanics and the control of cell shape, tissue patterns and morphogenesis," Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 8, 633– 644 (2007).
- 165 N. C. Heer and A. C. Martin, "Tension, contraction and tissue morphogenesis," Development 144, 4249–4260 (2017).
- ¹⁶⁶ A. M. Fenix, N. Taneja, C. A. Buttler, J. Lewis, S. B. Van Engelenburg, R. Ohi, and D. T. Burnette, "Expansion and concatenation of nonmuscle myosin IIA

filaments drive cellular contractile system formation during interphase and mitosis," Mol. Biol. Cell 27, 1465–1478 (2016).

- ¹⁶⁷C. Laplante, F. Huang, I. R. Tebbs, J. Bewersdorf, and T. D. Pollard, "Molecular organization of cytokinesis nodes and contractile rings by superresolution fluorescence microscopy of live fission yeast," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 113, E5876–E5885 (2016).
- ¹⁶⁸S. X. Sun, S. Walcott, and C. W. Wolgemuth, "Cytoskeletal cross-linking and bundling in motor-independent contraction," Curr. Biol. **20**, R649–R654 (2010).
- ¹⁶⁹X. Ma, M. Kovács, M. A. Conti, A. Wang, Y. Zhang, J. R. Sellers, and R. S. Adelstein, "Nonmuscle myosin II exerts tension but does not translocate actin in vertebrate cytokinesis," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109, 4509–4514 (2012).
- 170 I. M. Pinto, B. Rubinstein, A. Kucharavy, J. R. Unruh, and R. Li, "Actin depolymerization drives actomyosin ring contraction during budding yeast cytokinesis," Dev. Cell 22, 1247–1260 (2012).
- ¹⁷¹Z. Xue and A. M. Sokac, "Back-to-back mechanisms drive actomyosin ring closure during drosophila embryo cleavage," J. Cell Biol. 215, 335–344 (2016).
- ¹⁷²G. Salbreux, J. Prost, and J.-F. Joanny, "Hydrodynamics of cellular cortical flows and the formation of contractile rings," Phys. Rev. Lett. **103**, 058102 (2009).
- ¹⁷³K. D. Irvine and B. I. Shraiman, "Mechanical control of growth: Ideas, facts and challenges," <u>Development</u> 144, 4238–4248 (2017).
- ¹⁷⁴E. Paluch and C.-P. Heisenberg, "Biology and physics of cell shape changes in development," Curr. Biol. 19, R790–R799 (2009).
- ¹⁷⁵ A. Singh, T. Saha, I. Begemann, A. Ricker, H. Nüsse, O. Thorn-Seshold, J. Klingauf, M. Galic, and M. Matis, "Polarized microtubule dynamics directs cell mechanics and coordinates forces during epithelial morphogenesis," Nat. Cell Biol. 20, 1126–1133 (2018).
- ¹⁷⁶ R. Picone, X. Ren, K. D. Ivanovitch, J. D. Clarke, R. A. McKendry, and B. Baum, "A polarised population of dynamic microtubules mediates homeostatic length control in animal cells," PLoS Biol. 8, e1000542 (2010).
- ¹⁷⁷T. Kondo and S. Hayashi, "Mechanisms of cell height changes that mediate epithelial invagination," Dev. Growth Differ. 57, 313–323 (2015).
- ¹⁷⁸ K. L. Pope and T. J. Harris, "Control of cell flattening and junctional remodeling during squamous epithelial morphogenesis in drosophila," <u>Development</u> 135, 2227–2238 (2008).
- ¹⁷⁹K. Nagayama and T. Matsumoto, "Contribution of actin filaments and microtubules to quasi-*in situ* tensile properties and internal force balance of cultured smooth muscle cells on a substrate," Am. J. Physiol. **295**, C1569–C1578 (2008).
- ¹⁸⁰M. A. Gelbart, B. He, A. C. Martin, S. Y. Thiberge, E. F. Wieschaus, and M. Kaschube, "Volume conservation principle involved in cell lengthening and nucleus movement during tissue morphogenesis," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109, 19298–19303 (2012).
- ¹⁸¹E. Vasileva and S. Citi, "The role of microtubules in the regulation of epithelial junctions," Tissue Barriers 6, 1539596 (2018).
- 182 A. Singh, S. Thale, T. Leibner, L. Lamparter, A. Ricker, H. Nüsse, J. Klingauf, M. Galic, M. Ohlberger, and M. Matis, "Dynamic interplay of microtubule and actomyosin forces drive tissue extension," Nat. Commun. 15, 3198 (2024).
- 183 K. Leguay, B. Decelle, I. E. Elkholi, M. Bouvier, J.-F. Côté, and S. Carréno, "Interphase microtubule disassembly is a signaling cue that drives cell rounding at mitotic entry," J. Cell Biol. 221, e202109065 (2022).
- ¹⁸⁴G. Y. Liu, S.-C. Chen, G.-H. Lee, K. Shaiv, P.-Y. Chen, H. Cheng, S.-R. Hong, W.-T. Yang, S.-H. Huang, Y.-C. Chang *et al.*, "Precise control of microtubule disassembly in living cells," EMBO J. **41**, e110472 (2022).
- ¹⁸⁵J. Slováková, M. Sikora, F. N. Arslan, S. Caballero-Mancebo, S. G. Krens, W. A. Kaufmann, J. Merrin, and C.-P. Heisenberg, "Tension-dependent stabilization of e-cadherin limits cell-cell contact expansion in zebrafish germ-layer progenitor cells," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 119, e2122030119 (2022).
- 186G. R. Kale, X. Yang, J.-M. Philippe, M. Mani, P.-F. Lenne, and T. Lecuit, "Distinct contributions of tensile and shear stress on e-cadherin levels during morphogenesis," Nat. Commun. 9, 5021 (2018).
- ¹⁸⁷ R. Windoffer, M. Beil, T. M. Magin, and R. E. Leube, "Cytoskeleton in motion: The dynamics of keratin intermediate filaments in epithelia," J. Cell Biol. **194**, 669–678 (2011).

- ¹⁸⁸S. Yoon and R. E. Leube, "Keratin intermediate filaments: Intermediaries of epithelial cell migration," <u>Essays Biochem.</u> 63, 521–533 (2019).
- ¹⁸⁹M. Murrell, P. W. Oakes, M. Lenz, and M. L. Gardel, "Forcing cells into shape: The mechanics of actomyosin contractility," Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 16, 486– 498 (2015).
- 190 D. N. Clarke and A. C. Martin, "Actin-based force generation and cell adhesion in tissue morphogenesis," Curr. Biol. 31, R667–R680 (2021).
- ¹⁹¹R. W. Carthew, "Adhesion proteins and the control of cell shape," Curr. Opin. Gen. Dev. 15, 358–363 (2005).
- 192T. J. Harris and U. Tepass, "Adherens junctions: From molecules to morphogenesis," Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 11, 502–514 (2010).
- 1935. Yonemura, "Cadherin-actin interactions at adherens junctions," Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 23, 515–522 (2011).
- ¹⁹⁴D. L. Rimm, E. R. Koslov, P. Kebriaei, C. D. Cianci, and J. S. Morrow, "Alpha 1 (e)-catenin is an actin-binding and-bundling protein mediating the attachment of f-actin to the membrane adhesion complex," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92, 8813–8817 (1995).
- 195 F. Drees, S. Pokutta, S. Yamada, W. J. Nelson, and W. I. Weis, "α-catenin is a molecular switch that binds e-cadherin-β-catenin and regulates actin-filament assembly," Cell 123, 903–915 (2005).
- 196 M. Ozawa, "Nonmuscle myosin IIA is involved in recruitment of apical junction components through activation of α-catenin," Biol. Open 7, bio031369 (2018).
- 197L. Cai, A. M. Makhov, D. A. Schafer, and J. E. Bear, "Coronin 1B antagonizes cortactin and remodels Arp2/3-containing actin branches in lamellipodia," Cell 134, 828–842 (2008).
- 198 M. V. Rao and R. Zaidel-Bar, "Formin-mediated actin polymerization at cellcell junctions stabilizes e-cadherin and maintains monolayer integrity during wound repair," Mol. Biol. Cell 27, 2844–2856 (2016).
- 199 A. M. Shewan, M. Maddugoda, A. Kraemer, S. J. Stehbens, S. Verma, E. M. Kovacs, and A. S. Yap, "Myosin 2 is a key Rho kinase target necessary for the local concentration of e-cadherin at cell-cell contacts," Mol. Biol. Cell 16, 4531–4542 (2005).
- ²⁰⁰N. Ishiyama, R. Sarpal, M. N. Wood, S. K. Barrick, T. Nishikawa, H. Hayashi, A. B. Kobb, A. S. Flozak, A. Yemelyanov, R. Fernandez-Gonzalez *et al.*, "Force-dependent allostery of the α-catenin actin-binding domain controls adherens junction dynamics and functions," Nat. Commun. 9, 5121 (2018).
- ²⁰¹Q. Le Duc, Q. Shi, I. Blonk, A. Sonnenberg, N. Wang, D. Leckband, and J. De Rooij, "Vinculin potentiates e-cadherin mechanosensing and is recruited to actin-anchored sites within adherens junctions in a myosin II-dependent manner," J. Cell Biol. 189, 1107-1115 (2010).
- 202S. Yonemura, Y. Wada, T. Watanabe, A. Nagafuchi, and M. Shibata, "α-catenin as a tension transducer that induces adherens junction development," Nat. Cell Biol. 12, 533–542 (2010).
- 203 J. M. Leerberg, G. A. Gomez, S. Verma, E. J. Moussa, S. K. Wu, R. Priya, B. D. Hoffman, C. Grashoff, M. A. Schwartz *et al.*, "Tension-sensitive actin assembly supports contractility at the epithelial zonula adherens," Curr. Biol. 24, 1689–1699 (2014).
- 204 H.-J. Choi, S. Pokutta, G. W. Cadwell, A. A. Bobkov, L. A. Bankston, R. C. Liddington, and W. I. Weis, "α e-catenin is an autoinhibited molecule that coactivates vinculin," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109, 8576–8581 (2012).
- ²⁰⁵M. Yao, W. Qiu, R. Liu, A. K. Efremov, P. Cong, R. Seddiki, M. Payre, C. T. Lim, B. Ladoux, R.-M. Mege *et al.*, "Force-dependent conformational switch of α-catenin controls vinculin binding," Nat. Commun. 5, 4525 (2014).
- ²⁰⁶B. Cha, X. Geng, M. R. Mahamud, J. Fu, A. Mukherjee, Y. Kim, E-h Jho, T. H. Kim, M. L. Kahn, L. Xia *et al.*, "Mechanotransduction activates canonical WNT/β-catenin signaling to promote lymphatic vascular patterning and the development of lymphatic and lymphovenous valves," Genes Dev. **30**, 1454–1469 (2016).
- ²⁰⁷T. Zhou, B. Gao, Y. Fan, Y. Liu, S. Feng, Q. Cong, X. Zhang, Y. Zhou, P. S. Yadav, J. Lin *et al.*, "Piezo1/2 mediate mechanotransduction essential for bone formation through concerted activation of NFAT-YAP1-β-catenin," *eLife* 9, e52779 (2020).
- ²⁰⁸J. E. Yu, S.-O. Kim, J.-A. Hwang, J. T. Hong, J. Hwang, N.-K. Soung, H. Cha-Molstad, Y. T. Kwon, B. Y. Kim, and K. H. Lee, "Phosphorylation of β-catenin Ser60 by polo-like kinase 1 drives the completion of cytokinesis," EMBO Rep. 22, e51503 (2021).

- ²⁰⁹K. Kim, Z. Lu, and E. D. Hay, "Direct evidence for a role of β-catenin/LEF-1 signaling pathway in induction of EMT," Cell Biol. Int. 26, 463–476 (2002).
 ²¹⁰E. Sánchez-Tilló, O. de Barrios, L. Siles, M. Cuatrecasas, A. Castells, and A. E. Sanchez-Tilló, C. M. Sanchez-Tilló, C. M. Sanchez-Tilló, C. Sanchez-Tilló, O. de Barrios, L. Siles, M. Cuatrecasas, A. Castells, and A. E. Sanchez-Tilló, C. Sanch
- 210E. Sánchez-Tilló, O. de Barrios, L. Siles, M. Cuatrecasas, A. Castells, and A. Postigo, "β-catenin/tcf4 complex induces the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT)-activator Zeb1 to regulate tumor invasiveness," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 19204–19209 (2011).
- ²¹¹Y. Cho, D. Haraguchi, K. Shigetomi, K. Matsuzawa, S. Uchida, and J. Ikenouchi, "Tricellulin secures the epithelial barrier at tricellular junctions by interacting with actomyosin," J. Cell Biol. **221**, e202009037 (2022).
- interacting with actomyosin," J. Cell Biol. 221, e202009037 (2022).
 ²¹²Y. Oda, T. Otani, J. Ikenouchi, and M. Furuse, "Tricellulin regulates junctional tension of epithelial cells at tricellular contacts through Cdc42," J. Cell Sci. 127, 4201–4212 (2014).